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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I am Bill Perkins, Chair of the City

          4  Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5                 Today we will be conducting oversight

          6  on the Campaign Finance Program and hear testimony

          7  on bills 124-A, 371-A, and 466-A, which deal with

          8  Campaign Finance Reform.

          9                 The Governmental Operations Committee

         10  is charged with overseeing the Campaign Finance

         11  Board and the Campaign Finance Program, and I

         12  believe that we have all done an excellent job in

         13  creating and preserving a great program.

         14                 New York City has been trailblazing

         15  in regards to Campaign Finance Reform. This Council

         16  first enacted Campaign Finance Reform legislation

         17  back in 1988, and created a program that has been a

         18  model for other cities and the nation as a whole.

         19                 We've considered the program a

         20  masterpiece but, of course, it is not perfect but

         21  rather an ongoing work in progress.

         22                 Intro. No. 124-A is a lengthy and

         23  complex bill, which is why we have spent and will

         24  spend several hearings examining it.

         25                 The more salient proposals in the
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          2  bill are:

          3                 - streamline the board's

          4  administration of the program.

          5                 - reduce areas of potential fraud and

          6  deception.

          7                 - limit certain unnecessary

          8  expenditures of public funds, and further, level the

          9  electoral playing field by altering the formula for

         10  paying public funds to participants facing

         11  high-spending non-participants.

         12                 - improve the effectiveness of the

         13  debate program.

         14                 - permit limited participation in the

         15  program by self-funded candidates.

         16                 Bills 371-A and 466-A deal with the

         17  application of the contribution and disclosure

         18  requirement to all candidates for municipal offices,

         19  regardless of whether such candidate is in the

         20  program.

         21                 Good government is pushing these

         22  reforms. One of the central themes which runs

         23  through the bill is the concept of greater

         24  governmental transparency through more regular and

         25  detailed disclosure.
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          2                 I will use an example to better

          3  demonstrate the theme, and some of the other reform

          4  themes running through this bill.

          5                 For instance, you have three Council

          6  Member candidates running for office in a City

          7  primary. One candidate wishes to join the program,

          8  another candidate wishes to self-finance their own

          9  campaign, and the third candidate wishes to run a

         10  traditional campaign through fund-raising, but does

         11  not wish to enter the program as they believe they

         12  will raise more money outside the program, and

         13  probably because they don't want to adhere to the

         14  program's rules regarding contribution limits and

         15  disclosure, among other things.

         16                 There is now room for all these

         17  candidates within the program under this bill.

         18                 The first candidate would be your

         19  traditional participant.

         20                 The second candidate who intends to

         21  self-finance could now enter as a limited

         22  participant, and the limited participant agrees to

         23  enter the program, funds everything for their

         24  campaign personally, but agrees to adhere to

         25  expenditure limits and disclosure requirements of
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          2  the program.

          3                 In return, the first participant will

          4  no longer get a bonus met, which is increased by

          5  this legislation up to six to one. And will have the

          6  same spending cap as the self-financed candidate,

          7  that is the traditional spending cap. This saves the

          8  City money and preserves the goals of the program by

          9  balancing the playing field.

         10                 The third candidate who does not wish

         11  to join the program will now under this bill be

         12  subject to the disclosure requirements and

         13  contribution limits of the program, regardless of

         14  their participation in the program.

         15                 These requirements will now apply to

         16  all candidates to municipal offices, much the same

         17  way the state requirements apply to all candidates

         18  in the state, even though they are receiving no

         19  public funds from the state.

         20                 We believe the City program

         21  requirements are more rigorous, good government

         22  requirements than the existing state requirements

         23  that are few and far between and not as detailed.

         24                 This extra disclosure is particularly

         25  important so that the Board can better gauge the
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          2  playing field, even if certain candidates are not in

          3  the program.

          4                 This third candidate is referred to

          5  in the bill as a "non-participating candidate."

          6                 Other issues that are open for

          7  discussion today are whether there should be

          8  spending caps in the election outyears, the first

          9  three years of an election cycle; if there should be

         10  a cap, what should it be; whether we need to define

         11  minimal opposition, quote/unquote. There has been

         12  much media attention given through expenditures of

         13  public money to strong candidates, where that

         14  candidate opponent is not a credible threat.

         15                 This is a difficult question because

         16  we don't know who is credible until after an

         17  election, but it is an issue that we should explore.

         18                 We are exploring another issue of

         19  government resources and their use in the electoral

         20  process.

         21                 The rule of law is that incumbents

         22  cannot use government resources for political

         23  purposes.

         24                 We need to investigate any abuses of

         25  this and discuss which agencies should be monitoring
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          2  this.

          3                 We, of course, need to balance this

          4  with an elected official's need to serve their

          5  community. It is a difficult line to draw and we

          6  need to examine this fully.

          7                 Today we expect to hear testimony

          8  from the Campaign Finance Board, Public Advocates,

          9  and election attorneys.

         10                 Before we begin the hearing, I would

         11  like to introduce the other members of the

         12  Committee. Let me just point out that there are

         13  several other hearings taking place, in which

         14  members are in attendance and/or chairing, and so I

         15  expect that they'll be in and out throughout this

         16  hearing. But right now we have with us the Majority

         17  Whip and Chair of the Rules, Privileges and

         18  Elections Committee, Council Member Leroy Comrie. We

         19  did have at the opening the Chair of our Civil

         20  Service and Labor Committee, Joseph Addabbo, Jr.,

         21  who has gone across the hall to chair a hearing of

         22  his committee, and we expect to hear from the other

         23  members of the Committee throughout the day.

         24                 I want to also acknowledge the

         25  Counsel to this Committee, Matthew Tollin, our Press
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          2  Secretary, Maria Alvarado, and at this point we'll

          3  start the hearing with our first witness.

          4                 I'm going to ask for Frederick A.O.

          5  Schwarz, Jr., Chairman of the New York City Campaign

          6  Finance Board, and his colleagues to come forward.

          7                 MR. TOLLIN: Good morning. Could you

          8  each raise your right hand.

          9                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         10  the testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         11  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, I do.

         13                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. Could you

         14  before speaking say your agency and your name.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes. I'm Fritz Schwarz,

         16  and I'm Chair of the Campaign Finance Board.

         17                 So, good morning, Chair Perkins. Good

         18  morning, other members of the Committee. Thank you

         19  for the opportunity to be here on these important

         20  issues.

         21                 The Council should, and I know does,

         22  take pride in the adoption of the pioneer New York

         23  City Campaign Finance Program.

         24                 The Council, furthermore, should, and

         25  I know does take pride in its consistent
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          2  preservation of this program over the years by

          3  amending it to ensure the changing circumstances and

          4  weaknesses exposed during the real life of real

          5  campaigning are addressed in a timely way, and the

          6  Council has consistently done that.

          7                 I am eager to see this continue. I

          8  believe that the bills before you today largely

          9  support these goals and help maintain the program as

         10  the premiere model for similar reform efforts across

         11  the country.

         12                 At the same time, this is late in the

         13  election season to be making changes, which require

         14  administrative adjustments and candidate education.

         15  Therefore, I urge this Council, if it sees fit to

         16  make the changes, to do so without further

         17  substantial delay.

         18                 Obviously, you know, there are issues

         19  that need to be worked out, but it is important to

         20  get this done if you act as soon as you possibly

         21  can.

         22                 And, unfortunately, we did not get

         23  the text of the current proposal until two days ago.

         24  And while we've reviewed the legislation in some

         25  substantial detail, and have been communicating, Mr.
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          2  Chairman, with your excellent counsel on that

          3  consistently, nonetheless, we have not completed our

          4  review and will be supplying additional comments to

          5  you.

          6                 Let me just say a little bit about

          7  the purposes of the Campaign Finance Act, because I

          8  think one evaluates the proposed changes in light of

          9  the purposes, and those purposes are, among other

         10  things:

         11                 - to maintain an even playing field

         12  among candidates, as much as is reasonable;

         13                 - to give serious candidates who do

         14  not have access to sources of wealth, an opportunity

         15  to compete in a meaningful way;

         16                 - to allow candidates to compete

         17  successfully without reliance on special interest

         18  money;

         19                 - to give the public meaningful and

         20  timely disclosure of campaign finances; and

         21                 - to inform the public about issues

         22  relating to New York City campaigns.

         23                 At all times, of course, guarding the

         24  public fisc, but be at the front of our concerns, as

         25  we study the potential impact of reforms generally,
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          2  and of candidates' use of public funds in

          3  particular.

          4                 I describe below the Board's view of

          5  the major provisions of the proposed laws. Overall

          6  it represents some good improvements in the current

          7  act.

          8                 Before I begin with that description,

          9  I want to report that we have a new mayoral

         10  appointment to the Board, Catherine Patterson, who

         11  will be with us for our next hearing. We look

         12  forward to welcoming her and her presence.

         13                 I would also like to note publicly

         14  our appreciation for the service of Fred Cerullo,

         15  who had to resign because he took another position

         16  with the City. He's your former colleague on the

         17  Council. But Fred was a constructive and enjoyable

         18  presence on the Board.

         19                 Now, because Fred Cerullo has left

         20  and Ms. Patterson has not yet actually, physically

         21  been to the Board, neither of them had any

         22  involvement in the comments I will be making today.

         23                 What I will be saying on this short

         24  notice represents a general consensus of the Board,

         25  but without the opportunity of every Board member to
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          2  examine every detail or agree upon every aspect of

          3  the legislation as it now appears before you.

          4                 Now, I want to start, Mr. Chairman,

          5  by talking some about provisions in the bill, which

          6  you also mentioned in your opening comments, that

          7  have not yet received much attention, but which are

          8  really important.

          9                 There are a number of such provisions

         10  which serve a good government purpose, and indeed

         11  have been objectives of the Board for years. Some of

         12  these proposals, these new ones which are desirable,

         13  are broad, like applying the City's timely and

         14  effective disclosure rules and contribution limits

         15  to all candidates running for City office, one of

         16  the things you mentioned, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 Some are very focused, like

         18  strengthening the ban on the use of government funds

         19  for mass mailings by City officials in the period

         20  before an election.

         21                 Some are intended to save public

         22  funds, like reducing public fund payments to

         23  candidates who face only minimal opposition, a

         24  subject which you also mentioned, and which is a

         25  difficult and important issue.
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          2                 Now, just a brief word about the two

          3  bills which have separate numbers, the shorter ones,

          4  but very important ones, that apply the disclosure

          5  rules and the contribution rules to persons who are

          6  not in the program.

          7                 Now, on disclosure, this change will

          8  make a big difference to the public. It will mean

          9  that the public will have available to it detailed

         10  and timely computerized financial information about

         11  all candidates for the same office, regardless of

         12  whether they're in the program.

         13                 Already, people who are in the City's

         14  program supply computerized financial disclosure,

         15  probably the most sophisticated in the country,

         16  which is detailed and timely.

         17                 This information is made available in

         18  searchable form on the Internet within hours of

         19  filing with the Campaign Finance Board.

         20                 However, under current law,

         21  candidates not in the program do not file their

         22  disclosure statements with the Board, and the

         23  filings they do make elsewhere are less detailed,

         24  are not available electronically, and are not

         25  audited.
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          2                 As a consequence, as a really

          3  important consequence to the public interest, the

          4  public is now unable to subject all candidates for

          5  City office to the same degree of public scrutiny.

          6                 The proposal before you would serve

          7  the public interest by eliminating that discrepancy.

          8                 Of course, mechanically adequate time

          9  will be needed to allow development and testing of

         10  new software to implement the bill when it goes into

         11  effect.

         12                 In the meantime, special instructions

         13  will be given to alert candidates to information

         14  that need not be supplied, and immediately after the

         15  opt-in deadline, the Board anticipates that it will

         16  issue special software for the continued filing by

         17  non-participants.

         18                 Now, just a word on the other

         19  separate bill, the shorter one, that applies

         20  contribution limits to non-participants, the same as

         21  the ones to participants.

         22                 Now, of course, the problem here is

         23  that overly large political contribution harm the

         24  public's confidence in its officials by needlessly

         25  increasing the risk or appearance that contributors
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          2  can exercise undo influence.

          3                 The City has an interest in having

          4  fair elections, in maintaining the appearance of

          5  fair elections, and in providing, to the extent it

          6  reasonably can, level playing fields.

          7                 For these reasons, this proposed bill

          8  that you've put forward, lowers the contribution

          9  limits from the extraordinarily high limits under

         10  state law that now apply to non-participants, and

         11  applies to non-participants the corporate ban that

         12  participants already operate under.

         13                 So, now, Mr. Chairman, the rest of my

         14  comments are on the -- as I think you described it,

         15  the very detailed bill, the longer bill, which is I

         16  think number 124-A, everything else I say will be

         17  about 124-A.

         18                 And I want to start with another

         19  subject you mentioned, which was restrictions on the

         20  use of government resources during an election year.

         21                 And what I have in the remainder,

         22  I've been managed, Mr. Chairman, and others to cut

         23  some of the length of what we have.

         24                 Some of it is highly detailed and

         25  your counsel and our people, our staff, are working
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          2  on those details, and they're all important, but in

          3  what I say orally, I'm trying to cut down on the

          4  extent to which I burden you with my voice.

          5                 So, now restrictions on government

          6  resources. The use of government resources during an

          7  election year: In 1998, the Council passed an

          8  important local law prohibiting certain uses of

          9  government funds and resources by City employees or

         10  officers for political purposes during the election

         11  season.

         12                 This bill clarifies the provisions

         13  and would strengthen the existing law by lengthening

         14  the prohibition on the use of government resources

         15  for mass mailings and other mass communications

         16  before an election from 30 to 90 days to be enforced

         17  by the Board.

         18                 Intro. 124, the previous version of

         19  the bill, would have banned all together, would also

         20  have banned all together, the use of government

         21  resources for distributing gifts to promote an

         22  office holder's candidacy, and would have included a

         23  number of other strengthening provisions.

         24                 The Board is disappointed that those

         25  other changes were dropped.
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          2                 In addition, the previous version

          3  contemplated an enforcement mechanism for all

          4  aspects of the section. But the current version does

          5  not have enforcement powers for most of its

          6  provisions in the agency.

          7                 Reinstating these previous provisions

          8  would go a long way toward leveling the playing

          9  field for insurgence.

         10                 The Board also continues to believe

         11  an enforcement mechanism should exist and that

         12  actually it should reside in the Conflicts of

         13  Interest Board and not in us.

         14                 The bill also limits potential

         15  penalties, and unlike most, it is different than the

         16  other penalties.

         17                 Finally, the bill does not give the

         18  Campaign Finance Board the authority to determine

         19  whether an illegal contribution has been made to the

         20  campaign that should also be charged against the

         21  expenditure limit.

         22                 These are things which we believe

         23  ought to be corrected. Unless the Council believes

         24  that this can be accomplished by rule-making, in

         25  which case it would make sense to amend the
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          2  Council's memorandum in support to so state.

          3                 Nonetheless, having stated these

          4  things, the Board believes that on the use of

          5  government resources, overall the new bill is an

          6  improvement over existing law.

          7                 Now, picking up, again, on, Mr.

          8  Chairman, another thing you anticipated, limited

          9  public fund payments to participating candidates

         10  with minimal opposition.

         11                 A number of program participants

         12  receive maximum public funds for races in which it

         13  turns out they face only minimal opposition. This,

         14  in some circumstances, can be wasteful of public

         15  funds.

         16                 Under Local Law No. 12 of 2003,

         17  amendments were passed in an attempt to address

         18  this. Nonetheless, a number of candidates continued

         19  in the most recent election to receive full public

         20  funding, although they won overwhelmingly against

         21  opponents who had little financial support.

         22                 Thus, the standards for dispersing

         23  public funds proved not to be stringent enough. This

         24  bill attempts to address that problem.

         25                 Of course, it is clear, it should be
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          2  clear, and it is clear, that the Board cannot and

          3  should not make subject findings as to whether races

          4  are likely to be competitive.

          5                 The requirement for getting full

          6  public funding have to be objective and your bill

          7  makes them so.

          8                 Although the experience with the

          9  existing law has only been with one level of office

         10  for one election. In the 2003 elections, the

         11  existing provisions appear not to have been a

         12  significant bar to receipt of public funds for

         13  candidates who it turned out to have only limited

         14  opposition.

         15                 The bill proposes new fixed monetary

         16  triggers to establish meaningful opposition under

         17  the act and gets rid of some other things which

         18  clearly weren't working.

         19                 The monetary triggers, however, are

         20  overcome whenever their participant's opponent is an

         21  elected official or a former elected official, or

         22  one who holds or has held an elected party position.

         23                 The Board believes that this is, as

         24  drafted, too broad an exception, and will often

         25  trigger the release of funds unnecessarily. Again,
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          2  that's something we're dealing with your counsel on.

          3                 The bill also allows for candidates

          4  to ask the Board for additional funds when they face

          5  an opponent whose name recognition is so great that

          6  there is no need for that opponent to make

          7  significant campaign expenditures to gain

          8  significant votes.

          9                 The Board supports this exception,

         10  nonetheless, as I mentioned, there are provisions

         11  which we think should be strengthened.

         12                 Now, the conclusion on this one,

         13  although imperfect, these changes are aimed at

         14  reducing the inappropriate and unnecessary

         15  expenditure of public funds, and it is our belief

         16  that if enacted they should save the City money.

         17                 Restrictions on the use of public

         18  funds from prior elections: The previous version of

         19  this bill banned the transfers from left-over money

         20  from a prior election.

         21                 In response to concerns that

         22  imposition of a ban in the 2005 election might be

         23  unfair to candidates who had relied on using surplus

         24  funds already collected, an exemption, or exception

         25  was contemplated to permit transfers within certain
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          2  constraints.

          3                 What remains in the bill is the

          4  concept of the exception but not an ultimate post

          5  2005 ban. The bill continues to permit transfers.

          6                 In an apparent attempt, however, to

          7  control the funds transferred into a participant's

          8  election, the bill places substantial onerous

          9  record-keeping requirements on the candidates and

         10  the Board places a fundraising cost on the money

         11  transferred.

         12                 The Board is concerned that these

         13  constraints will be extremely cumbersome for

         14  candidates in an already difficult area.

         15                 The Board continues to support a ban.

         16  I hope, again, that on the details, particularly,

         17  and the period after the election of 2005, we can

         18  work to get rid of what our attempts to address

         19  special problems in 2005, but might not be relevant

         20  thereafter.

         21                 On the debate law, I say a lot in

         22  here, I'm going to say some of it, but not all of

         23  it, aspects of the proposed bill should make the

         24  debate program more attractive to more sponsors by

         25  permitting them, based upon objective criteria, to
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          2  determine which candidate should be included.

          3                 Similarly, it's hoped that changes in

          4  the debate law will make the debates themselves more

          5  useful to the public.

          6                 Now, the current law provides for

          7  each of the citywide elections in both primaries and

          8  the general election, that there must be two

          9  debates. The bill would add another debate for each

         10  of the three citywides in both the primary and the

         11  general election.

         12                 While many people would argue that

         13  more debates are always preferable, and I

         14  personally, and other Board members, would like to

         15  see more of them, the Board is against adding an

         16  additional set of mandatory debates that are run

         17  under the constraints of the Campaign Finance Act.

         18  And that's just an important point I made there. We

         19  think more debates are good, but we are concerned

         20  about more debates being run under the constraints

         21  of the Campaign Finance Act.

         22                 It has been the Board's experience

         23  that soliciting sponsors and scheduling debates,

         24  particularly in the General Election period, during

         25  an already busy season with many religious and other
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          2  holidays, as well as potential, and if the Yankees

          3  continue to do well, inevitable, world series games,

          4  is difficult even under the current law.

          5                 Many potential debate sponsors do not

          6  want to work within the boundaries that the debate

          7  law requires, thereby reducing the pool of potential

          8  sponsors.

          9                 For example, no advertising is

         10  permitted during broadcast debates that are under

         11  our jurisdiction.

         12                 The commitment of television stations

         13  to these debates therefore represents a substantial

         14  monetary investment in this good government program.

         15  And this new version of the bill over the board's

         16  objection continues to require sponsors to indemnify

         17  the City in the event a liability arises from the

         18  debate.

         19                 I'm sure that the Council has an

         20  interest, as the Board does, in making sure that

         21  these debates are seen by as many people as

         22  possible.

         23                 For example, in 2001, a competitive

         24  public advocate primary was not able to draw any

         25  television sponsor.
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          2                 So, the Board -- this is why you can

          3  say both we favor more debate and we're concerned

          4  about more debates under the campaign finance

          5  program.

          6                 The Board has to operate under

          7  constraints as a government agency, and those

          8  constraints do not exist for independent groups that

          9  are willing to host debates. Perhaps the Council

         10  should leave some dates open during an extremely

         11  busy time of year for other groups to host their own

         12  debates according to different sets of rules.

         13                 There are a lot of, as you said, Mr.

         14  Chairman, recommendations designed to improve the

         15  Board's administration of the program and further

         16  protect the public fund, and those are useful things

         17  that we support. There is one of them, and in the

         18  testimony I have a number of, you know, issues that

         19  I think we want to work out, only one of which I

         20  think I need to mention here. Okay, I don't even

         21  need to mention that. These are good supports that

         22  are designed to save public money, but there are

         23  little things that are important. And by not

         24  mentioning them, I'm not saying they're not

         25  important, but they are important to work out.
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          2                 I now want to turn my attention,

          3  having covered a number of important improvements

          4  that have not already received substantial

          5  attention, to those things that have received some

          6  substantial attention.

          7                 The first is two-tiered enhanced

          8  matches in certain extraordinary circumstances. The

          9  bill provides for a change in the match of

         10  contributions that are up to $250 or lower, of up to

         11  six to one in certain extraordinary circumstances.

         12                 Under current law the match goes from

         13  four to one to five to one, when a candidate outside

         14  of the program raises or spends more than 50 percent

         15  of the spending limit imposed on participants in the

         16  program.

         17                 This bill retains the five to one

         18  match, and provides for a second tier match to six

         19  to one, when a well-financed opponent raises or

         20  spends two times the spending limit. The spending

         21  limit that applies to candidates in the program.

         22                 In addition to having two tiers that

         23  serve as a partial leveling of the playing field,

         24  the bill proposes to reduce somewhat the relief from

         25  the spending limit given to a program participant,
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          2  when faced by a well-financed opponent.

          3                 Thus, under current law, when a

          4  well-financed opponent raises or spends 50 percent

          5  of the spending limit, a program participant is

          6  wholly relieved from the spending limit. In contrast

          7  under the bill, the program participant is given an

          8  expenditure limit of 150 percent of the current

          9  limit if an opponent triggers the five to one match,

         10  and is not wholly relieved of the expenditure limit

         11  until a punitive high spending opponent has raised

         12  or spent two times the spending limit.

         13                 There are some details on trigger

         14  points and so forth that we want to be sure we

         15  completely understand, and we will have dialogue

         16  with your counsel.

         17                 The option to be a limited

         18  participant, which here also mentioned, this

         19  Committee previously heard testimony by Nicole

         20  Gordon on this recommendation in June of 2003, as

         21  well as by me in December of 2003.

         22                 Under this new category entirely

         23  self-funded candidates would be able, if they choose

         24  to, to join the program continuing to be entirely

         25  self-funded. To do so, they would have to agree,
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          2  among other things, to limit their expenditures to

          3  the same level as candidates in the program, in

          4  return for their participation, they would not

          5  trigger any bonus for their opponents otherwise

          6  applicable under the law.

          7                 Now, there are a few things we'd like

          8  to see in the bill that aren't in it. These are

          9  longstanding issues, they're not new to you. We and

         10  others think the Council ought to extend the ban on

         11  corporate contributions to all organizations,

         12  including unions. We in civic groups have also urged

         13  lower contribution and lower spending limits, and

         14  although the proposed bill does have a creative

         15  mechanism for containing contribution and spending

         16  limits in the long-term, the Board believes that it

         17  would be preferable to have those limits lowered

         18  now.

         19                 Then there are details about how we

         20  think the Council maximum figure should be

         21  withdrawn, and in our recent 2003 post election

         22  report we discussed possible solutions to consider

         23  at a future date, should the legislation before you

         24  not significantly address some problems.

         25                 In addition, the board has other
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          2  questions. These are all things which you know our

          3  positions on.

          4                 And, finally, I'd like to conclude.

          5  The Board always welcomes the Council's interest in

          6  strengthening the Campaign Finance Act.

          7                 The Board prides itself on its

          8  ability to carry out its mandates effectively, and

          9  strives to give candidates as much notice as

         10  possible when changes are made to the act or the

         11  rules.

         12                 The Board is concerned about

         13  candidates justifiable frustration at late

         14  implementation of changes in the law, and for those

         15  reasons, I would again encourage the Council to act

         16  just as soon as it can, if it decides to enact

         17  changes applicable to the 2003 elections.

         18                 In other words, while we recognize

         19  there needs to be some continuing dialogue and

         20  sharpening, and your Honor called for some

         21  additional hearings, it is very much in the public

         22  interest, if you decide to act, to decide to do so

         23  as soon as you possibly can.

         24                 So, I applaud the Council's efforts

         25  to reverse some trends by enacting changes in the
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          2  current law. I reiterate that in most respects the

          3  proposed bill makes an overall improvement over the

          4  current law, and we urge you to make the various

          5  adjustments which I've mentioned both out loud and

          6  in my written testimony.

          7                 So, thank you very much for your

          8  attention and thank you very much for allowing us to

          9  appear here today.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         11  much. I appreciate your testimony.

         12                 I want to first acknowledge the

         13  presence of Council Member Peter Vallone, the Chair

         14  of our Public Safety Committee, who has joined us.

         15                 Let me ask first about a concern that

         16  you raise as it relates to the timing. You begin

         17  your testimony with some concerns about the lateness

         18  of the season, and therefore the need to develop

         19  some administrative adjustments in candidate

         20  education becomes a problem or challenge for you.

         21  Can you elaborate a little bit more about that, and

         22  maybe even be somewhat specific about your time

         23  frames that might be required in order for you.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I'd first like to

         25  speak generally and then maybe more specific. On the
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          2  general side, you know, it is late in the election

          3  season, and, of course, one of the reasons for that

          4  is that only every 20 years do you have an election

          5  every two years; in other words, one in 2001 and one

          6  in 2003. That's a reason why probably things are a

          7  little more compressed now.

          8                 But it is late in the season, and in

          9  fairness to candidates, it's important that they

         10  know what the rules of the game are going to be as

         11  soon as possible.

         12                 There is also an interest in the

         13  board, since we have to, you know, develop

         14  educational materials and so forth, in getting it

         15  done as soon as possible.

         16                 What does as soon as possible mean? I

         17  think it means as soon as possible, and that I think

         18  we want our dialogue with your counsel, which is a

         19  very much open and back and forth dialogue, to

         20  continue, and you're going to make judgments on

         21  whether our points are valid or not valid. I hope

         22  you think they're valid, but they're questions which

         23  I think you can decide pretty quickly whether our

         24  points are valid or not valid.

         25                 Then you, Mr. Chairman, said you
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          2  wanted to have additional hearings. I would urge you

          3  to do those quickly.

          4                 I know you guys have an awful lot to

          5  do, but I think it's better for the public interest

          6  to have this done, as I said, as soon as you

          7  possibly can.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Did you want to

          9  share something?

         10                 MS. GORDON: In specific about some of

         11  the challenges for the candidates and for the Board,

         12  obviously there's going to be a time lag between the

         13  time that that bill is finalized, when it does go

         14  into effect, and rules that will have to be

         15  promulgated and there are incubating periods for the

         16  rule-making with important statutory requirements to

         17  allow the public to comment and so on. So, there's a

         18  lag there, and then there have to be changes in

         19  software and in the educational materials, and all

         20  those things, some of which are by operation of law

         21  and correctly so, and some of which are by operation

         22  of just the physical demands of doing things, do

         23  implicate our ability to get materials prepared, and

         24  candidates prepared, and to give them useful forms

         25  and software that will make it easy for them to
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          2  comply with the program's requirement.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you

          4  very much. I'm going to turn to my colleague, but

          5  before, I just want to mention something before I

          6  forget.

          7                 I guess you know about the other bill

          8  that's not being heard today that was introduced

          9  yesterday.

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: You mean the doing

         11  business bill?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The doing

         13  business bill or what we might call the Provenzano

         14  bill.

         15                 I know that this is not the subject

         16  of today's hearing, and we won't be entertaining any

         17  questions about it today, but if possible, I'd

         18  appreciate it if you can get us a memo of your

         19  understanding and feelings about that bill?

         20                 MR. SCHWARZ: We will certainly do

         21  that, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I know that

         23  there are some questions or issues that you didn't

         24  get a chance to fully review and consider on the

         25  bills that are before us, we are urging that you try
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          2  to get us some input as soon as possible with

          3  respect to those.

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: Absolutely we will. I

          5  think we've been very prompt in talking with your

          6  counsel, and we're not going to delay at all in

          7  getting comments back to you and if we have any

          8  further comments.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: As you may know,

         10  our interest is in trying to get this bill passed,

         11  and up and running in time for the upcoming

         12  political season in 2005. And, so, we appreciate

         13  your sense of urgency in the administrative and

         14  educational matters that have to be addressed once

         15  this is passed. And, so, we will be trying to

         16  accommodate that type of scheduling so the

         17  candidates, the public and everybody else can have

         18  the benefit of understanding the bill and on time.

         19                 Before I go to some of my questions,

         20  do you have any questions, Council Member Comrie?

         21                 Turn your mic on.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, Mr.

         23  Chair. Thank you.

         24                 Good morning. Catherine Patterson,

         25  can we get a bio or a background on her?

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, Nicole, maybe you

          3  can do that.

          4                 MS. GORDON: We have not yet gotten

          5  any biographical materials from the Mayor's Office.

          6  I understand that they will be issuing a press

          7  release, but what I am aware of is that she did

          8  serve on the Charter Revision Commission, the last

          9  Charter Revision Commission, and she is an attorney.

         10  She's a graduate of Harvard Law School, Stanford

         11  University, and was a partner at the law firm of

         12  Cudaire Brothers (phonetic) for a number of years. I

         13  don't know if those are the things she might have

         14  emphasized in her biography, but that's what I do

         15  know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: The Mayor can

         17  appoint directly to the Board?

         18                 MS. GORDON: He is required to consult

         19  with the Speaker of the City Council only on that

         20  appointment.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Only on that

         22  appointment.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Only on my appointment.

         24                 MS. GORDON: Oh, I'm sorry. You're

         25  absolutely right. I misspoke. I apologize. I
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          2  apologize.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: The Chair

          4  comes before the Committee.

          5                 MS. GORDON: It's not required.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: It's only the Chairman

          7  where the Mayor consults. Otherwise there are two

          8  appointments for the Mayor, which have to be from

          9  different political parties, and two appointments

         10  directly from the Speaker, which have to be from

         11  different political parties.

         12                 Right now both the Speakers' people

         13  are on the Board, but there is only one direct

         14  Mayoral appointment on the Board.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. I just

         16  wanted to check that. I thought I knew that.

         17                 I was confused about the paragraph on

         18  page six, say in the middle of the page, where it

         19  says "the bill allows the candidates to ask the

         20  Board for additional funds when they face an

         21  opponent whose name recognition is so great that

         22  there is no need for that opponent to make campaign

         23  expenditures."

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: Let me try and use a

         25  hypothetical person, which isn't really
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          2  hypothetical. But if you had an enormously well

          3  known figure in New York City, who decided to run

          4  for the City Council, and said, you know, I'm so

          5  well known I don't have to raise money. But you

          6  could imagine somebody, and you could imagine such a

          7  person, and that's what it's meant to cover.

          8                 So, it's meant to protect other

          9  candidates before the Council against an unfairness

         10  that could arise to them if there's the unusual

         11  circumstance of such a famous person running who

         12  isn't raising money and therefore the triggers

         13  wouldn't be relevant.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But that

         15  person is still spending money or having

         16  expenditures, so therefore the person that is

         17  participating in the campaign was getting the

         18  maximum of campaign finance.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: The hypothetical

         20  well-known person is not seeking any contribution,

         21  says, you know, I'm so well known, I don't need to

         22  go out and raise money, so they wouldn't get any

         23  money from the City.

         24                 The other candidates who are in the

         25  program, and are, you know, feel they have to go out
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          2  and raise money, because of this provision would get

          3  whatever funding, the full funding they're entitled

          4  to, without regards to the limitations which have

          5  been put in to protect against people getting full

          6  funding when they have minimal opposition.

          7                 Have I been clear?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm clear.

          9                 Do you think that the penalties -- or

         10  how can the penalties kick in if you have a

         11  non-participating candidate, and do you think the

         12  penalties are high enough? I'll just leave it at

         13  that.

         14                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes. Let's take on the

         15  non-participating candidate -- and by the way, this

         16  isn't a self-funded candidate. These are

         17  non-participating candidates who aren't self-funded.

         18  I mean, our judgment, we actually talked about that

         19  sitting here this morning and Nicole may want to

         20  jump in, but if you think about it, the

         21  non-participating candidate is not going to have the

         22  issues that arise from receiving public funds, there

         23  won't be any matches to that person. They are not

         24  going to have the issues arise because of

         25  expenditure limits, because under the constitution
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          2  you can't limit a non-participant with respect to

          3  expenditures. So, the issues would be failures to

          4  make disclosure, appropriate disclosure, and the

          5  other thing would be accepting inappropriate

          6  contributions.

          7                 So, the number seemed about fair. And

          8  I think another point, Councilman, is given that

          9  this is a new departure bringing in the

         10  non-participants, it's probably wiser to start

         11  modestly, and then see if experience teaches one

         12  something about how adjustments should be made.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you think

         14  there's enough leeway in these proposals to

         15  encourage those people that are nonparticipants to

         16  at least file and do the proper filing?

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I think the first

         18  thing is, if they don't do the filing, they're going

         19  to get fined. And secondly, it seems to me, the

         20  power of public opinion is going to bite here too,

         21  because if someone who is not in the program and now

         22  is required to file doesn't, I think the power of

         23  public opinion and the power of the press is going

         24  to say, well, that's wrong.

         25                 You know, again, Councilman, maybe if
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          2  the experience in the first year is that people

          3  ordered by the law to file proper disclosure don't

          4  do so, then one would have to revisit the question

          5  that you've raised.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, what if a

          7  non-participate doesn't participate because they

          8  don't believe in campaign finance? And puts a

          9  written statement as to the fact that they're filing

         10  because they don't believe in the system?

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, you know, that

         12  would be a violation of the law. I think there are

         13  both formal, which would be defined, but informal

         14  sanctions on people who, which again, is the power

         15  of public opinion and the power of the press. If the

         16  law is the law, people who are running for public

         17  office ought not to be defying the law.

         18                 I mean, you know, if you're running

         19  against a candidate, if you have an opponent and

         20  that person says, oh, I'm not going to pay attention

         21  to the law, I think you have a pretty good campaign

         22  issue.

         23                 But I'm not an expert on campaigns,

         24  so I withdraw that comment and it's up to you people

         25  who are experts to evaluate that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 On page nine you had, because of time

          5  you had passed over that page, I was just curious as

          6  to the section, the third bullet point down, making

          7  the participant ineligible to receive the public

          8  funds. Can you clarify that paragraph, just for the

          9  record?

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay. Nicole, do you

         11  want to do that?

         12                 MS. GORDON: Sure.

         13                 The longstanding practice and the

         14  interpretation of the statute and so forth of the

         15  Board has been that those funds from a previous

         16  election, whether it's in the form of a penalty or

         17  return of public money, that that candidate's new

         18  campaign (sic) cannot receive new public funds until

         19  the old problem is cleared up. And there seems to

         20  be, and we haven't fully analyzed it yet, but there

         21  seems to be language in this new bill that puts

         22  certain constraints on that rule that would not make

         23  it possible for the Board to withhold new public

         24  funds in a series of circumstances that seem very

         25  extraordinary, you know, such as having a court
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          2  decision, or certain board hearings and decisions,

          3  and I think that what may have happened here is that

          4  correctly the drafters wanted to be sure that

          5  candidates have notice which clearly they must have

          6  before clearly any action can be taken in a later

          7  situation, and the Board would certainly agree with

          8  that totally.

          9                 But I think in the way that they

         10  tried to construct what they wanted to have happen,

         11  they overburdened the situation and they basically

         12  turned it around so that it would no longer be, as

         13  we read it, the candidate's responsibility to show

         14  compliance, and instead it would turn it into

         15  another kind of a burden.

         16                 So, we're very concerned that this

         17  leaves open some extraordinary circumstances, or

         18  even in the midst of some potential fraud, that

         19  because an audit hasn't been concluded, that would

         20  preclude the board from holding back public funds.

         21                 But I think that's something that

         22  probably everybody agrees that the notice part of it

         23  is essential, but that maybe the way this has been

         24  constructed is not -- could reverse, could have a

         25  reverse effect from what is intended, which is to
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          2  protect the public fund.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: When I asked,

          4  Councilman, last night the same question that you

          5  did, and what I was saying is basically I'm sure

          6  that the problem expressed here is not the intent of

          7  the drafters, and that there are ways to accommodate

          8  the interest of the drafters and obviously avoid the

          9  problem that's referred to here.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: All right,

         11  thank you. One other question right now.

         12                 You talked about lowering the amount

         13  at one point for '05 from 82.5 to 70; how did you

         14  determine that?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, the first thing to

         16  say is that, you know, this is an issue what we have

         17  raised before and the Council had the view that they

         18  wanted to not go with our position, instead have a

         19  methodology that over time would gradually help

         20  reduce the figures because of no longer having the

         21  inflation, and the inflation raises.

         22                 As to where the number comes from, I

         23  think Ms. Gordon -- the idea that's in here in which

         24  the Council thus far has not said they agree to and

         25  they have another way of approaching it, but where
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          2  did the idea of the 70 --

          3                 MS. GORDON: Actually, not to

          4  contradict you, but --

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: That's okay.

          6                 MS. GORDON: -- But to contradict you,

          7  the issue of the 82,500 down to 70,000 is not really

          8  a CPI matter of the adjustment.

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay.

         10                 MS. GORDON: This was a flat out

         11  recommendation to reduce the expenditure. Well,

         12  actually maybe I'm overstating that. Is it affected

         13  by the CPI? Is the CPI adjustment in there on the

         14  expenditure limits as well? It is. Okay, I

         15  apologize. The Chairman is entirely correct, as

         16  always, as he always is.

         17                 The 82.5 --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Remember that

         19  she said that.

         20                 MS. GORDON: The recommendation on the

         21  70,000 was developed after the 2001 elections, and

         22  there was a lengthy process within the Board where

         23  the expenditures of Council campaigns were examined,

         24  the differentials between winning and losing

         25  campaigns, the differentials between office holders
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          2  and challengers, and all kinds of ways of looking at

          3  the numbers, and it seemed at that time, and it also

          4  seems in the 2003 elections, that with relatively

          5  high expenditure limits and relatively high amounts

          6  of public funds available, it may be that office

          7  holders are getting advantages that were not really

          8  contemplated earlier on. And when you see the leap

          9  from where the maximum public funds payment was in

         10  1997, which was $40,000, which was clearly too low,

         11  and then see that it is now 82,500, our 2001 post

         12  election report goes into a discussion about how the

         13  $70,000 number the Board concluded was a more

         14  appropriate number. It's also, by the way, in the

         15  context of a different expenditure limit, what is

         16  now in place, and it is part of a package of

         17  recommendations the Board made post 2001.

         18                 But in that report, you can see the

         19  numbers and the reasoning behind it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. So that

         21  was just a recommendation for the '01 and the '03,

         22  but you still believe that the CPI is the most

         23  objective standard to determine rates in the future?

         24  And why would we hold that rate for ten years?

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I think the answer
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          2  on that, Councilman, is that that stems from the

          3  dialogue we had with the Council a year ago. Where

          4  we were saying that we believe there are good

          5  reasons to lower the numbers. The people

          6  representing the Council were saying we're not

          7  willing to take the step of lowering the numbers

          8  just in a flat action, and that out of that dialogue

          9  came as, you know, is the nature of the legislative

         10  process, a compromise that accommodated our

         11  interest, although doing it over a longer period of

         12  time, and recognize the interest of the Council were

         13  in their judgment, it would not be appropriate or

         14  fair to make an immediate lowering.

         15                 So, you know, the legislative

         16  process, that's the way things happen.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         18                 I'll defer the rest of my questions

         19  for right now, Mr. Chair.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: Thank you, Mr. Comrie.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         23  acknowledge the presence of Council Member Nelson,

         24  and the Chair of our Revenue Forecasting Committee.

         25                 Council Member Vallone, you have a
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          2  question?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I guess I should

          5  also recognize that our special counsel Eric Lane,

          6  has joined us at the end of the table.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Schwarz, and the

         10  Board, for testifying.

         11                 The purpose of the law is obviously

         12  to level the playing field, so giving less money to

         13  candidates who face limited opposition I believe is

         14  a good idea, and giving more money to candidates who

         15  face an opponent who spends a huge amount of money

         16  may also be a good idea.

         17                 But I do have some concerns, and,

         18  number one, it's hard to tell from reading the

         19  testimony, but does your Board support this

         20  two-tiered approach, giving more money?

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: It does.

         23  Okay.

         24                 And, obviously, by supporting it you

         25  believe it's the right thing to do. Do you believe
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          2  that the changes that we're discussing today

          3  regarding that two-tier approach should be something

          4  that should be implemented for 2005 or after?

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I testified in

          6  last December on the criteria that are within the

          7  judgment of the legislative body and the-- within

          8  the judgment of the legislative body to be applied.

          9                 And I don't believe that is an issue

         10  on which the Board should be taking a position. I

         11  think that's a quintessential, completely

         12  legislative, question of legislative judgment.

         13                 The factors include, that I put in my

         14  testimony, I had four or five factors at the end of

         15  my testimony last December, what they include is the

         16  matter, one, that relates to a substantial interest

         17  of the bill, of the program, and leveling the

         18  playing field is a substantial interest of the

         19  program. But one also needs to look at whether there

         20  has been detrimental reliance on the status quo, and

         21  that's a factor that in your judgment you should

         22  consider. And I don't think it's for us to make a

         23  judgment on that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Just let me be

         25  clear. By status quo you mean the four to one?
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, exactly. Exactly.

          3  Exactly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, I'm not

          5  sure that I agree that you shouldn't have a position

          6  on that, but I accept your answer.

          7                 Assuming that a two-tiered approach

          8  is put into place, is there a mechanism to ensure

          9  that it's implemented effectively?

         10                 What I mean by that, I know Nicole is

         11  going to know what I mean by this, but I ran against

         12  someone -- the last time I ran against somebody I

         13  did not take any public funds, even though I was

         14  entitled to, but the first time I ran against

         15  someone who overspent the limits. The problem was I

         16  was not aware of that. It's impossible to become

         17  aware of that during a campaign. I don't know what

         18  this person was spending, he wasn't filing timely,

         19  and I'm still not completely positive as to how much

         20  over the limit this person spent.

         21                 Now, on a tier approach it's going to

         22  be even more difficult because there are certain

         23  levels where additional funding kicks in, so how

         24  would that be implemented?

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I think we've had
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          2  some experience on that. We've had some experience

          3  on that, and I don't think it's going to be too

          4  hard, and I think it will be helped by the proposed

          5  new law where disclosure has to be made by people

          6  not in the program.

          7                 There were a couple of cases this

          8  last year, and I don't know if this would have

          9  applied in your situation, where the -- these were

         10  Council races, and one of the candidates came in and

         11  said I think my opponent is spending more than the

         12  trigger amount. The opponent said, in effect, well,

         13  I'm not going to tell you what I'm spending.

         14                 So, we drew an inference from the

         15  refusal of the opponent to say what they were

         16  spending, and we further drew an inference from the

         17  failure of the opponent in that instance who have

         18  filed disclosure statements with the State Board,

         19  even though they're inadequate.

         20                 And based on those inferences, we

         21  said it's fair to provide the extra funds to the

         22  candidate within the program, and in doing that,

         23  actually this was, I thought, an interesting and

         24  important decision we made, in doing that, part of

         25  our reasoning was that one of our jobs is to make
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          2  sure that people who elected to come into the

          3  program are treated fairly, and we think -- that

          4  really, you know, was a part of the reasoning that

          5  underlie those inferences that we created.

          6                 So, that may have been actually a new

          7  development for the Board. I thought it was useful,

          8  and maybe it would have resolved the problem in your

          9  race, whenever it was, the 2001 race.

         10                 And, of course, in some situations it

         11  will be obvious that someone is spending more than

         12  these trigger points.

         13                 Nothing in life, though, you know is

         14  totally without -- you know, there were big

         15  complexities.  If you were a law school professor,

         16  which maybe you are on the side, I don't know, you

         17  know, you could think up hypotheticals that would

         18  raise difficult questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE you're

         20  absolutely right. I think I hit every hypothetical

         21  during my campaign originally, which is why I'm

         22  concerned about it. But if you say you'll be able to

         23  effectively implement it, that's a good start.

         24                 Let me move to one last question. For

         25  some strange reason I'm concerned about this name
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          2  recognition exception. It says here that the bill

          3  allows candidates to ask the Board for additional

          4  funds when they face an opponent whose name

          5  recognition is so great that there is no need for

          6  that opponent to make significant campaign

          7  expenditures.

          8                 If someone -- who makes the decision

          9  as to name recognition? And also, for example,

         10  again, I was entitled to public funds last election,

         11  I didn't take them. Would that now allow my opponent

         12  to come in and say, Vallone is a recognized name,

         13  although not mine, my father's, but it is a

         14  recognized name, so therefore he would get

         15  additional funds?

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: No. Well, that's an

         17  interesting question.

         18                 Let's see, your hypothetical and your

         19  hypothetical, you choose, again, not to be in the

         20  program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I was in the

         22  program, I just did not take the funds. I complied

         23  with every rule.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: You choose not to take

         25  the funds, and this may be illustrating my point
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          2  that one can think of new hypotheticals, but you

          3  choose not to take the funds, and your opponent --

          4  you know, I'd have to add another fact in the

          5  hypothetical. You are someone who, you may not be

          6  taking funds, but I think you're not going to be

          7  regarded as someone who is likely to be a total

          8  failure in the election. I mean, you're an

          9  incumbent.

         10                 And I don't know, do you have any

         11  further comments on that?

         12                 MS. GORDON: Well, I guess one thing I

         13  will point out about this is that you're talking

         14  really about what the law applies to is very rare

         15  circumstance. That circumstance is that somebody has

         16  huge name recognition, and is spending less than

         17  $35,000 to run for a City Council seat.

         18                 There aren't going to be too many

         19  people who are going to spend less than $35,000,

         20  because by itself the $35,000 will trigger your

         21  entitlement to the public fund.

         22                 So, what you're really talking about

         23  is Babe Ruth coming in and saying, you know what? I

         24  don't need to spend a dime on this campaign, but the

         25  fact alone that the TV says that I'm on the ballot
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          2  will be enough for people to tick off my name in the

          3  election in the booth, and the poor candidate on the

          4  other side comes into the Board and says, look, Babe

          5  Ruth has not spent, he's decided to spend $34,000 in

          6  order to prevent me from getting my public funds,

          7  but Board, you know who Babe Ruth is, everybody

          8  knows who Babe Ruth is, people are going to go in,

          9  check off his name, please relieve me from this

         10  problem.

         11                 So, I think you're really talking

         12  about a very rare circumstance. Even a person with

         13  name recognition will normally I think spend $35,000

         14  on a Council campaign.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'd be very

         16  concerned if Babe Ruth ran against me also. I think

         17  we should investigate that a little bit.

         18                 But I didn't realize it was at

         19  35,000. And the more definitive criteria there are

         20  like that, is a good thing. I'm always worried when

         21  there's too much discretion, because I've been

         22  involved in that situation and people have to sit

         23  around and decide what's going on. But 35,000 seems

         24  fair.

         25                 Okay, thank you.

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

          3  Nelson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you. And

          5  lest one postulates, I've been shirking my duty. I

          6  sit on the Aging Committee too, which was at 250

          7  Broadway.  I apologize for missing the first part of

          8  this meeting.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I gave

         10  excuses to you and the other colleagues who are at a

         11  variety of other meetings.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: You're good.

         13  No, you're good. I appreciate that, Mr. Chair, very

         14  much.

         15                 Yes, I was going to go with Peter's,

         16  as a matter of fact, too. And one of my favorite

         17  models, examples, just walked in, ironically, Gene

         18  Russianoff.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: I share your views of

         20  Mr. Russianoff.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: He's very

         22  popular, and he does a lot of good for the public,

         23  so that would be like somebody who would have to be

         24  dealt with on a different level perhaps.

         25                 And I agree with you, too, the
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          2  wording, it is very broad. Who would make this

          3  decision, and it would be easily challengeable, I

          4  would imagine.

          5                 But, yet, it is realistic and that is

          6  of concern to me. I was wondering if that's going to

          7  go anywhere. I might have missed that part, that

          8  part of today's hearing.

          9                 Is it not going to be utilized,

         10  someone with big name recognition?

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: It's in the bill.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, it is

         13  definitely going to be in. Okay. I think that's

         14  important.

         15                 And going to page 9, too, as far as

         16  making a participant ineligible, even though this

         17  has not affected me adversely at all, but I believe

         18  that owes should be taken from the new money, but

         19  were you saying that if somebody owed money from a

         20  previous campaign, they would be ineligible to

         21  receive any matching funds for the election they

         22  were presently in?

         23                 MS. GORDON: The concept, and this has

         24  always been the way the Board has operated, is that

         25  if you owe the public fund money from a past
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          2  election, you can't get new money until you've

          3  cleared up your problem from the past. And it

          4  doesn't even necessarily mean that you've actually

          5  paid the money, but at least you have an enforceable

          6  contract so-to-speak, a settlement that says, here

          7  is my payment plan, and this is what I owe and so

          8  on. That's what this is about.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: And, again, as

         10  you know, it doesn't affect me.  So you would not be

         11  allowed to take it from, let's say the new money

         12  that were raised, even pre-matcheable?

         13                 MS. GORDON: The intent of this -- oh,

         14  it's about getting new money, new public fund money,

         15  for the new campaign, and the intent of this

         16  originally was simply to confirm in the law what has

         17  always been the longstanding practice which has been

         18  recognized by the courts that campaigns can't expect

         19  to get new money when they have debt to the City

         20  from an old one, and the concern here is that the

         21  way, I believe the inadvertent way in which this was

         22  raised, because on the one hand, clearly candidates

         23  should have notice of what the problem is, and be

         24  able to have an opportunity to clear everything up,

         25  that's important and there's no problem about making
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          2  that clear. But what happened in the drafting, it

          3  seems to us, in advertently, was that so many

          4  requirements were piled on into what that, what

          5  procedure would be required, maybe even court

          6  decisions and so on, that it might actually put the

          7  board in a position of having to give out public

          8  funds to candidates when genuine very substantial

          9  questions were still unresolved and it would put the

         10  public fund at greater risk than it is now.

         11                 So, that's what has to be worked out.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Sure. And

         13  especially if that particular campaign was derelict

         14  in some manner, I understand that.

         15                 Okay, thank you.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         18  much for your testimony and we look forward to

         19  continuing this, the crafting of this legislation in

         20  a timely way, so that it can be available to the

         21  public and to candidates for the upcoming season.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 MR. TOLLIN: Gene Russianoff from

         25  NYPIRG, Doug Israel from Citizens' Union, Rachel
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          2  Leon from Common Cause.

          3                 Good morning.

          4                 MS. LEON: Good morning.

          5                 MR. TOLLIN: Could you raise your

          6  right hand.

          7                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          8  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the --

          9  the other right. Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         10  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         11  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 MS. LEON: We do.

         13                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         14                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

         15                 Could you before giving your

         16  testimony, say your name and the organization you're

         17  associated with.

         18                 MS. LEON: Good morning. I'm Rachel

         19  Leon, Executive Director of Common Cause New York.

         20                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         21  testify today before this Committee, and we always

         22  appreciate testifying as a panel with these other

         23  terrific civic groups, NYPIRG and Citizens Union.

         24                 We'd like to think we're a united

         25  front, so it's great when we can actually sit here
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          2  together and do this.

          3                 Common Cause is a civic organization

          4  with more than 20,000 members in New York State and

          5  hundreds of thousands of members nationwide, that

          6  seeks to give citizens a voice in the political

          7  process. We care deeply about our Campaign Finance

          8  system and its effectiveness.

          9                 The New York City Campaign Finance

         10  Board and the City's Campaign Finance Program have

         11  served New Yorkers well. Not only has the program

         12  reduced special interest influence on City

         13  elections, it has promoted and enhanced the ability

         14  of every day New Yorkers to run grassroots campaigns

         15  and get elected to City office.

         16                 As someone who tries to bring

         17  accountability and fairness to our State Campaign

         18  Finance Program, I can tell you New York City is the

         19  model we constantly reference, as we advocate for

         20  changes in Albany and across the country.

         21                 Key to the success of this program

         22  has been the ability of it to constantly evolve,

         23  both through internal changes proposed by the Board

         24  and through changes passed by City Council and the

         25  Mayor over the years.
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          2                 This year the current presidential

          3  primary election demonstrates the fragility of a

          4  system that is inflexible to change. We know that

          5  our national public financing system right now is in

          6  a crisis, and so I think it's imperative that at the

          7  City level we keep our campaign finance strong,

          8  program strong, and we change the program as needed

          9  to meet the realities of the day.

         10                 We support the proposed bills that

         11  are before you today. We think there are many good

         12  parts to it. We also got it just a day and a half,

         13  two days ago, so we're still reviewing some of it so

         14  I'll give you some general comments and let my

         15  colleagues fill you in on the rest and then we'd

         16  still like the ability to comment with you later.

         17                 We're still reading through some of

         18  the debate provisions and some of the war chest

         19  provisions, so we'll leave that for a little bit

         20  later.

         21                 We support setting up a new level of

         22  optional limited participation, allowing candidates

         23  to self-fund, but still abide by the spending limits

         24  and disclosure requirements of other participants.

         25                 We proudly support efforts by the
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          2  Council and the Board to confront this issue. We are

          3  at a defining moment in history with regard to

          4  self-financed candidates nationwide. It used to be

          5  said that these candidates didn't win, so they

          6  didn't present a serious problem. More recently

          7  self-finance candidates have been winning races at

          8  every level of government. We must evolve our

          9  current programs to meet this challenge if we are to

         10  keep our programs competitive in today's world.

         11                 We support even in the playing field

         12  between incumbents and challengers by collapsing the

         13  first, second and third year spending caps into one

         14  pre-primary limit.

         15                 We support preventing candidates from

         16  receiving a substantial amount of public funds when

         17  facing a token opponent.

         18                 We support increasing a ban on the

         19  mass mailing by elected officials from 30 to 90

         20  days. We have seen 30-day provisions repeatedly

         21  abused at the state level where candidates send both

         22  mail in advance and it hits voters right at the same

         23  time, so we're well aware of people abusing this

         24  system, and we hope you continue to try to address

         25  it and keep it tough.
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          2                 We support setting greater rewards,

          3  participating candidates facing high-spending

          4  non-participants.

          5                 I'm going to let my colleagues go

          6  into more detail on this, but there was something in

          7  an earlier version of Intro. 124-A, or 124 that's

          8  been dropped. We support a stronger provision that

          9  prohibit the use of government funds in an election

         10  year. So, we wish you would put back in the language

         11  you started with on that one, but I'll let Gene give

         12  you the details on that.

         13                 We support requiring all candidates

         14  to abide by the same contribution limits and

         15  disclosure requirements, whether or not they

         16  participate in the campaign finance program, and we

         17  heartily support it, and we think that the limits in

         18  state law are far too high to be effective or

         19  appropriate and we think it's sensible to have one

         20  set of rules that apply equally to all candidates.

         21                 We believe that the Board has the

         22  authority to set these limits and disclosure rules

         23  for all City candidates according to City law.

         24                 As we've argued before, the

         25  disclosure component of this provision is crucial.
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          2                 Currently we have an incomplete

          3  picture as we examine City issues and candidates,

          4  since those who do not participate in the program

          5  are not required to file with the Board.

          6                 We had trouble this past spring just

          7  getting the local Boards of Elections to allow us in

          8  to examine campaign finance filings. We've been

          9  turned away at local offices. We've had to have

         10  several people watching us at the same time as we

         11  try to review public documents. So, it's important

         12  for sunshine that we have more information and that

         13  you deal with this.

         14                 Just one last note and then I'll let

         15  them do it. We are encouraged by the recent

         16  Executive Order recently adopted in New Jersey by

         17  outgoing Governor James McGreevey. We pushed for pay

         18  to play provisions across the country, and we know

         19  there's been a lot of discussion about this and that

         20  the Mayor has put forward a proposal and we hope

         21  that we can work with you, the Campaign Finance

         22  Board, the Mayor and the other civic groups to

         23  really come up with a workable pay to play

         24  provision. We look forward to working with you on

         25  that. Thank you.
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          2                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon, Mr.

          3  Chairman, members of the Committee and staff. I'm

          4  Gene Russianoff, with the New York Public Interest

          5  Research Group.

          6                 You have a copy of my written

          7  statement, and I'll just try and summarize some key

          8  points.

          9                 First of all, NYPIRG supports the

         10  proposed bills, the three bills here today, to

         11  improve the City's Campaign Finance Act, and we

         12  reject criticisms that the legislation is motivated

         13  by desire to aid or harm specific candidates.

         14                 Many of the proposals in the

         15  legislation have been long sought by our groups.

         16                 That said, NYPIRG regrets that the

         17  legislation has not been resolved further in advance

         18  of the coming election cycle, and like the Campaign

         19  Finance Board, hopes that if action is taken, it's

         20  taken expeditiously.

         21                 In my statement I have a list of

         22  reforms that we think are steps forward, and Rachel

         23  has mentioned them. Collapsing the spending ceiling

         24  is a more generous match for candidates, facing

         25  wealthy self-funded opponents, allowing new kind of
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          2  limited participation in the program. And those are

          3  all steps forward.

          4                 We just had a day or two ourselves to

          5  review the legislation, and there have been a number

          6  of changes made. Several of them, we do not agree

          7  with them, and in my statement I sort of go into

          8  detail. I'm just going to highlight three of them

          9  that I think are among the most important.

         10                 In the original bill, Intro. 124,

         11  there was a provision which allowed a candidate to

         12  apply for relief on the provision that limits public

         13  funds when facing a low-spending opponent.

         14                 A candidate could show extenuating

         15  circumstances, and the Campaign Finance Board could

         16  provide more funds.

         17                 In 124-A, you allow the candidate to

         18  present what are called objective non-financial

         19  circumstances, and there's a very fair exception

         20  where your low-spending opponent has great name

         21  recognition, not unlike myself, and then there's one

         22  that we think is just overly broad, there's an

         23  exception that basically says you can get public

         24  funds, even if your opponent isn't spending anything

         25  real or serious, if that opponent currently holds or
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          2  previously held a public office or elected party

          3  position.

          4                 So, someone who had been district

          5  leader ten years ago, that's going to trigger, you

          6  know, someone could take the maximum public funds,

          7  as I read the legislation, and the Board doesn't

          8  have any discretion. And that just seems to be,

          9  you're going to run into the same situation you have

         10  now, which is public criticism of public money being

         11  spent against token opponents.

         12                 Second, it's the fourth, one, two,

         13  three -- fourth paragraph on my second page of

         14  points, and Intro. 124 there was a provision that

         15  would have prohibited City officials from "using

         16  government resources for the distribution of gifts

         17  or other things of value that have the effect of

         18  voting or advertising a candidate for elective

         19  office." And that's been totally dropped from this

         20  version of the bill.

         21                 I understand that some people thought

         22  there was micromanaging and piciune, I tend to think

         23  of this as the tote bag provision, but I do think it

         24  makes the public cynical when they see public funds

         25  being spent for in an election year for

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  paraphernalia that promotes the candidate, and I

          3  wish the Council would consider maybe something that

          4  they would find more workable and palatable than the

          5  original language but not drop it entirely.

          6                 And last for me, or more seriously

          7  for me, is that Intro. 124, the original bill gave

          8  the Campaign Finance Board the power to, quote,

          9  "investigate and determine whether any use of

         10  governmental funds or resources constitutes a

         11  violation of the City's Campaign Finance Law."

         12  That's been much more narrowed in the amended bill

         13  and the Board only has power to see whether the mass

         14  mailing provision has been violated.

         15                 For a variety of reasons, this has

         16  been kind of an obsession for my organization, ever

         17  since the early 90s when the Mayor started to run TV

         18  commercials just for the election using public funds

         19  to promote municipal bonds and other worthy things,

         20  but to smear their name and face all over the TV

         21  screen. There's been a law on the books since '98

         22  but there's no enforcement mechanism, other than a

         23  district attorney, and how many DAs are going to

         24  prosecute a Mayor for putting their mug on TV, you

         25  know, it's going to have to be a very extreme case,
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          2  and I wish we could think of a better enforcement

          3  mechanism.

          4                 So, those are some specific points,

          5  and two more main things. One is, the other two

          6  bills, we clearly support 371-A which would extend

          7  the contribution limits to non-participants.

          8  Non-participants like the Mayor can take

          9  astronomical contributions and their opponents are

         10  limited to much less, and the preconsidered intro,

         11  which would extend the campaign finance disclosure

         12  and audit provisions to non-participants makes a lot

         13  of sense to us too.

         14                 And then the last point I would make,

         15  it's the end of my testimony, I know that the

         16  Mayor's proposal is not for the Council right now,

         17  but what I want to say is, you know, the Mayor has

         18  criticized the Campaign Finance Board for not

         19  dealing more effectively with the problem of

         20  contributions from people and entities doing

         21  business with the City.

         22                 NYPIRG agrees that that's a real

         23  issue, but that the Mayor's solution is not a good

         24  one, and as we read the Mayor's bill, all the burden

         25  would be put on candidates to determine who has land
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          2  use matters with the City, who is a vendor with the

          3  City, and that is a crushing burden and one that I

          4  think will drive people out of the program, and it's

          5  a wrong approach.

          6                 But there's been this recent

          7  Executive Order in New Jersey and that puts the

          8  burden on the State, on the government. The

          9  government gets the list of who is doing business

         10  with, in that case the state, and that it debars

         11  vendors and others who have made contributions.

         12                 So, in that case, the candidate

         13  doesn't have the burden, and whether you're in the

         14  program or out of the program, you can't take money

         15  from people who are doing business with government.

         16  I think that's a model that's worth thinking about.

         17  It may not be timely before this election cycle, but

         18  I think it's a serious problem nationally, and

         19  whether it's reality or perception, figuring out a

         20  way to address it makes sense. I appreciate the

         21  opportunity to speak.

         22                 MR. ISRAEL: Good morning. My name is

         23  Doug Israel and I'm Advocacy Director with Citizens'

         24  Union. I thank you for the opportunity to provide

         25  testimony today.
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          2                 Citizens' Union supported Intro. 382

          3  and Intro. 124 with minor reservations, and today we

          4  come here to actually support Introduction 371-A, as

          5  well as the preconsidered introduction.

          6                 They receive our full support

          7  requiring that candidates abide by a set of clearly

          8  defined public disclosure, and audit requirements,

          9  contribution limits and a ban on corporate

         10  contributions will help reduce influence of wealthy

         11  donors and corporations in the electoral process.

         12  And it should also serve to restore the faith of

         13  voters and City residents in a system that is often

         14  viewed with a lot of cynicism.

         15                 And for the most part we also support

         16  Introduction 124-A, you know, increasing, giving the

         17  bonus match six to one we think is good. We think

         18  the limited participating candidate provision is

         19  actually a great addition.

         20                 But we have a couple of problems with

         21  124-A. As Gene mentioned, government resources used

         22  for candidates running for office has always been a

         23  problem and misuse is quite rampant often, and we

         24  feel that trying to limit this is great and the

         25  Campaign Finance Board and the City should put
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          2  efforts into that, and also giving the City

          3  enforcement mechanism so that they actually can hold

          4  candidates accountable, hold elected officials

          5  accountable when they do misuse those funds.

          6                 I think one of the main things that

          7  we're concerned about with legislation is we support

          8  the transfer fund provision that's in there,

          9  absolutely support it. We think that it would do a

         10  good job of regulating those funds and keeping track

         11  of them.

         12                 We don't think it goes far enough,

         13  though. In general, outside of this legislation, we

         14  advocate for a very strong war chest provision,

         15  including not just transfer of funds but a war chest

         16  provision for elected officials that are already in

         17  office.

         18                 War chests have been shown to

         19  negatively impact competitiveness in races, as well

         20  as the quality of challengers, and this bill does

         21  not actually address that. It was something that was

         22  left out initially. This was called the war chest

         23  provision and we don't find that in this bill

         24  anywhere.

         25                 So, we stand behind our support of a
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          2  transfer of funds provision that actually would bar

          3  transfer of funds that weren't raised within the

          4  current, the election cycle, so within a four-year

          5  cycle, and we support similar war chest provision

          6  that would not allow incumbents to use funds that

          7  were not raised within that election cycle as well.

          8                 And beyond that, we do offer our

          9  support of the transfer of funds and we think it

         10  would work well with the provision that limited the

         11  funds raised to that election cycle.

         12                 Thank you for the opportunity.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you all

         14  for the work you do and for being here today with

         15  your testimony.

         16                 Let me just say, I take it generally

         17  speaking the three of you are supportive of the

         18  bills, with some modifications, some pruning up that

         19  you might provide?

         20                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And all of you,

         22  I take it, stress some urgency in getting it done as

         23  soon as possible so that it could be effective for

         24  the upcoming 2005 election season?

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          3                 MR. ISRAEL: We do. But we also

          4  support having more lead time in the future on

          5  issues like this. So, it doesn't run as close to the

          6  election as this one is.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 We'll take that into consideration in

         10  the future.

         11                 Any questions?

         12                 Council Member Comrie.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just want to

         14  thank the groups for testifying also. I want to take

         15  this opportunity to thank Mr. Lane and the Chair and

         16  the counsel, Mr. Tollin, for all their work on what

         17  you've been doing to try to create this bill, to

         18  make sure that it's fair and equitable, and that

         19  both insurgents and people that are already elected

         20  have a fair and equal opportunity to run effective

         21  and open campaigns.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         24                 Thank you very much for your

         25  testimony. And with that I believe we've reached the
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          2  last panel. I want to thank everyone for their

          3  participation.

          4                 These bills are very, very timely,

          5  very, very important to us, the Council. While we

          6  would have preferred more time to have presentation

          7  of them, we are confident that they will be

          8  available for you and the public to review and

          9  digest in time for the upcoming election.

         10                 So, we appreciate your testimony. We

         11  think we're on the right road. We know that this is

         12  a process that is evolving. We may not hit all

         13  points on the legislation that's before us so that

         14  ultimately pass, but we will revisit time and time

         15  again before it's all over.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 11:50 a.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 29th day of September 2004.
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